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CRIMINAL APPEAL No.2810 OF 2019

CRIMINAL REFERENCE No.03 OF 2019

IN THE HIGH COURT OF MADHYA PRADESH
AT JABALPUR 

BEFORE

JUSTICE SUJOY PAUL 
&

JUSTICE AMAR NATH (KESHARWANI)

CRIMINAL APPEAL No.2810 OF 2019

BETWEEN :-

RIBU @  AKBAR  KHAN,  S/O  NANHU @
AZAD KHAN,  AGED ABOUT 25  YEARS,
R/O.  NAYA  MOHALLA  CHOURAHA
THANA  KOTWALI,  DISTRICT
CHHATARPUR (M.P.)

                   .…APPELLANT
(BY SHRI ADITYA KHARE – ADVOCATE)

AND

STATE  OF  MADHYA  PRADESH,
THROUGH  POLICE  STATION
CHHATARPUR,  DISTRICT  -
CHHATARPUR (M.P.)

    .….RESPONDENT
(BY SHRI YOGESH DHANDE - GOVERNMENT ADVOCATE)

CRIMINAL REFERENCE No.03 OF 2019

BETWEEN :-

IN REFERENCE
RECEIVED  FROM  SESSIONS  JUDGE,
CHHATARPUR (M.P.)

                   .…APPELLANT

(BY SHRI YOGESH DHANDE - GOVERNMENT ADVOCATE)

AND
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RIBU @  AKBAR  KHAN,  S/O  NANHU @
AZAD KHAN,  AGED ABOUT 25  YEARS,
R/O.  NAYA  MOHALLA  CHOURAHA
THANA  KOTWALI,  DISTRICT
CHHATARPUR (M.P.)

    .….RESPONDENT

(BY SHRI MANISH DATT – SENIOR ADVOCATE WITH SHRI NISHANK
PAL VERMA)

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Reserved on :           28/ 04 / 2023

Pronounced on :         03/ 05 / 2023
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

This  Criminal  Appeal  and  Reference  have  been  heard  and
reserved for judgment, coming on for pronouncement this day, Justice
Sujoy Paul pronounced the following :

J U D G M E N T

This Criminal Appeal and Reference is related to the legality and

validity  of  judgment  dated  06.02.2019  passed  by  learned  IVth

Additional  Sessions  Judge,  Chhatarpur  (M.P.)  in  Sessions  Case

No.120/2017 whereby the Court below convicted and sentenced the

appellant as under :

Convicted under Sections  Sentenced to undergo

302 of IPC Death sentence

376(1) of IPC Imprisonment for Life with fine of
Rs.5000/-  and  in  default  R.I.  for
three years.

450 of IPC R.I.  for  10  years  with  fine  of
Rs.2000/- and in default  additional
R.I. for two years.

With the direction that all sentences shall run concurrently
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Prosecution story :-

2. The complainant Badibai lodged ‘Dehati Nalishi’ (Ex. P/11) on

22.02.2017.   She  was  working  as  domestic  help  of  Begum  @

Munshiyan @ Jahida Begum (hereinafter called as Begum).  At around

8:00 PM on 21.02.2017, she served dinner to Begum and thereafter

retired in her own room. On 22.02.2017 at around 5:00 AM when she

woke up, she found that her door is locked from outside. Her son Arif

(12 years) could manage to open the door by inserting his hand in the

slit between the two doors. Complainant-Badibai found that the room

of Begum was totally opened and the entire room is badly disturbed.

The luggage and material  of the room were scattered.  Begum was

lying and there were several injuries on her body.  Blood was oozing

from the private part of Begum. She could notice that somebody has

entered the room of Begum and sexually assaulted her. Begum was so

frightened that she was unable to speak properly. The complainant took

Begum  to  Chhatarpur  Hospital  for  treatment.  ‘Dehati  Nalishi’

(Ex.P/11) was reduced in writing and FIR (Ex.P/9) in Crime No.66/17

was registered for committing offences under Sections 457, 376 and

323 of IPC.

3. During  the  course  of  investigation,  Begum  was  medically

examined in  District  Hospital,  Chhatarpur  and report  (Ex.P/23)  was

prepared. The dying declaration of Begum was recorded by Executive

Magistrate (Ex.P/24). The case diary statement of victim under Section

161 Cr.P.C. (Ex.P/25) was recorded. The necessary samples of Begum
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including vaginal slides etc. were obtained through Property Seizure

Memo (Ex.P/10). 

4. Considering the serious condition of Begum, she was transferred

to Government Medical College, Gwalior. During treatment, she died

on  28.02.2017  at  Gwalior.  The  ‘Marg’  Intimation  (Ex.P/17)  was

recorded in Police Station Kampu, Gwalior. Because of unnatural death

of victim, Ex.P/7 under Section 174 of Cr.P.C. was registered. 

5. The  Investigating  Officer  prepared  site  map  (Ex.P/18).  The

statement of complainant Badibai (Ex.P/9) and Haidar (Ex.P/8) were

recorded under Section 164 of Cr.P.C. which were marked as Ex.P/36

and Ex.P/37. From the scene of crime, victim’s salwar, bedsheet and

‘Kathri’ were seized. In addition, sunglasses and button were seized

through Ex.P/19.  The photographs of scene of crime Article  A-1 to

Article A-12 were taken. 

6. The postmortem of victim was conducted and report (Ex.P/20)

was obtained. After completing the formalities, dead body was handed

over to the grandson of victim i.e. Nafis Khan. 

7. The appellant was arrested through Arrest Memo (Ex.P/6). The

appellant’s shirt through Seizure Memo (Ex.P/5) was recovered. The

appellant was subjected to medical examination and report (Ex.P/30)

was  prepared.  The  appellant’s  samples  through  (Ex.P/11)  were

obtained.  His semen slide, underwear, pubic hair and seal of Hospital

were seized through Ex.P/11. For DNA test of appellant, Identification

Form (Ex.P/12) was prepared and after obtaining his blood sample and

seal  of  the  Hospital,  the  Seizure  Memo  (Ex.P/13)  was  prepared.
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Patwari prepared site map (Ex.P/22). The seized material was sent to

Forensic Science Laboratory (FSL), Sagar through Ex.P/31 to Ex.P/32.

In turn, the report of FSL Ex.P/33, Ex.P/34 and Ex.P/35 were received.

After completion of investigation, challan was filed. After committal,

the  matter  came  up  for  trial  before  Sessions  Court.  The  appellant

abjured the guilt and accordingly full-fledged trial was conducted. 

8. The Court below prepared four points for its determination and

opined  that  in  absence  of  any  eye-witness,  broadly  the  case  of

prosecution  is  based  on  five  main  circumstances  namely  -  (i)  the

identification of dead body of Begum, (ii) the material collected from

the  scene  of  crime,  (iii)  dying  declarations  of  Begum,  (iv)

memorandum  of  appellant  and  seizure  on  the  basis  of  such

memorandum and (v) DNA report. 

Contention of appellant :-

9. Shri Manish Datt, learned Senior counsel/Amicus Curiae submits

that there are two dying declarations in the present matter. The first

dying  declaration  is  a  case  diary  statement  of  Begum  which  was

marked as Ex. P/25. Likewise, another dying declaration is  Ex.P/29

which was recorded by Shri Abhinav Sharma, Executive Magistrate.

By  placing  reliance  on  both  the  dying  declarations,  learned  Senior

Counsel submits that the victim clearly mentioned that she was alone

in the house. An unknown person entered the house assaulted raped

her. In Ex.P/25, she stated that the unknown person was a young man

and not an old man. 
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10. The statement of Sagir Khan (P.W.1) is relied upon to submit that

this  witness  deposed  that  when  he  reached  the  place  of  incident,

Begum  was  lying  naked  in  an  unconscious  state.  The  woman  of

neighbourhood came there and took her to the Hospital. This witness

found that in the room of Begum blood stains were there. The gents

sunglasses were lying there. He further deposed that he will be in a

position to identify the said sunglasses.  In second breath, he stated that

Begum informed him that son of Badibai i.e. Ribu/appellant assaulted

and raped her. However, in para-9 of cross-examination, he deposed

that he came to know from somebody that goggles found at the scene

of crime belongs to Ribu. He could not narrate as to from whom he

could gather this information. He further deposed that he is not an eye-

witness to the incident.  In  para-7 of cross-examination,  he admitted

that  in  his  case  diary  statement he did not  inform the Police  about

information  received  that  Ribu  assaulted  and  raped  Begum.  Shri

Manish Datt, learned Senior Counsel submits that this omission is fatal

to the case of prosecution and creates serious doubt on the alleged oral

dying declaration. 

11. The statement of PW-1 was relied upon for another purpose. It is

submitted that as per this witness, the appellant used to visit the house

of  Badibai  occasionally.  For  the  same  purpose,  statement  of  Nafis

Khan (P.W.2) was relied upon. This witness also deposed that Badibai

was  a  tenant  in  the  house  of  Begum.  The  appellant  used  to  visit

Badibai’s house.  In para-2 of his statement, the witness stated that the

victim was lying in a naked condition and the bed and bedsheet were
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having blood and semen marks. The goggles were found on the scene

of crime. He further deposed that he came to know that the goggles

found  on  the  scene  of  crime  was  of  Haidar  Khan.  Haidar  Khan

informed  him  that  on  21.02.2017,  he  had  given  these  goggles  to

present appellant. In para-5 of his statement, he identified the seized

goggles  and  the  same  was  marked  as  Article-A.  The  ‘Kathri’ was

marked  as  Article-B  whereas  bedsheet  was  marked  as  Article-C.

During cross-examination, it was stated that the neighbours informed

him that Haidar Khan handed over the goggles to Ribu.  He admitted

that in his statement recorded under Section 161 of Cr.P.C. (Ex.D/2), if

this fact is not mentioned, he cannot assign the reason. He admitted his

signatures on dead body  Punchnama (Ex.P/2) but pleaded ignorance

about the opinion mentioned therein. 

12. The statement of Shakil Ahmad (P.W.3) was relied upon only to

show that this witness is step son of Begum. Husband of Begum died

in  the  year  1977.  Shakil  Ahmad  (P.W.3)  came  to  know  about  the

incident from Sagir who telephoned him about the incident. He visited

the Hospital where Begum was admitted and he found various injuries

on the person of Begum. He also came to know that there were injuries

found on the private part of the victim. 

13. The next witness is Devendra Omre (P.W.4). It is pointed out that

he is a witness to the memorandum (Ex.P/4).  Learned Amicus Curiae

has raised serious objection on the portion of his statement wherein he

deposed that in his presence in the Police Station the accused informed

the Police that he had committed rape with an old woman and during
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that course a button of his shirt had broken and fell down. Apart from

this, he left her goggles also at the scene of crime. The objection of

learned Senior counsel is that certain portion of this statement is not

admissible  in  the  light  of  Sections  25 and 26 of  Evidence Act.  He

placed reliance on the judgment of the Supreme Court reported in Suo

Moto Writ  (CRL) No(s).  1/2017.  It  is  submitted  that  learned Court

below  should  not  have  recorded  this  piece  of  statement  which  is

inadmissible in the teeth of aforesaid provisions of Evidence Act. 

14. The Seizure Memo (Ex.P/5) was referred to show that the same

are signed by two witnesses namely Sachin Sen (P.W.5) and Devendra

Omre (PW-4). It was also signed by Arvind Kujur, Inspector, Police

Station Civil Lines.

15. The statement of Sachin Sen (P.W.5) was referred to show that

his narration is based on the information given by the Police. In the

cross-examination,  he  admitted  that  he  put  his  signatures  on

Memorandum (Ex.  P/4),  Seizure  Memo (Ex.P/5)  and  Arrest  Memo

(Ex.P/6) on the dictate of Police. It is canvased that Devendra Omre

(P.W.4) and Sachin Sen (P.W.5) both stated that they reached Police

Station in order to lodge report about a mobile theft and during their

presence,  the  appellant  allegedly  admitted  about  sexual  assault  etc.

The  common  objection  is  that  this  part  of  evidence  was  clearly

inadmissible. Para-4 of cross-examination was highlighted to show that

the information gathered by him is founded upon the information given

by the police, thus, it has no evidentiary value.  
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16. Saurabh Tiwari (P.W.6) is witness to the ‘Lash Punchnama’ and

does  not  have  much  significance.  Bhagwandas  Rai  (P.W.7)  is  the

constable who reached the scene of crime with Anjana Patil (S.I.). He

stated that from District Hospital, Chhatarpur he received the vaginal

slide and seal of the Hospital  in a sealed packet on 22.02.2017. He

handed over this sealed sample to Head Constable Writer Ramswaroop

Rajput.  The seizure document is marked as Property Seizure Memo

(Ex.  P/10).   As  per  this  statement,  he  took  appellant  to  District

Hospital, Chhatarpur for his medical examination on 23.02.2017. After

conducting  the  medical  examination,  semen slide,  underwear,  pubic

hair of appellant  were sealed alongwith seal  of hospital.  The sealed

packet was handed over by him to Police Station, Civil Lines which

were obtained by Head Constable Writer Ramswaroop Rajput through

Property Seizure Memo (Ex. P/11).

17. During  cross-examination,  he  deposed  that  the  samples  of

appellant were received by him in a sealed condition through Property

Seizure Memo (Ex. P/11). He was not aware about the contents of the

sealed packet, however, on his own, he further stated that the contents

of packet were mentioned on the packet itself. The Seizure Memo (Ex.

P/11)  shows  that  Duvesh  Kumar  (P.W.25)  and  Ramswaroop  Rajput

(P.W.23)  have  signed  it  in  the  capacity  of  witness  whereas

Ramswaroop  Rajput  (Head  Constable)  signed  it  as  Investigating

Officer. 

18. The statement of Haidar (P.W.8) is relied upon to show that in

his brief statement,  he made it  clear that his goggles were taken by
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appellant and he will be in a position to identify his goggles. In the

second breath,  he  identified  the  goggles  (Article-A)  and  clearly

deposed that these were taken by Ribu from him a day before the date

of incident at around 8-9 PM. 

19. Badibai (P.W.9) is an important witness submits learned Senior

Counsel.  It  is  submitted  that  this  witness  did  not  support  the

prosecution  story  relating  to  sexual  assault.  She  was  declared  as

hostile. She did not depose that there was any bleeding from the private

part of the victim. She also stated that victim in her and Sagir Khan’s

presence never stated that Ribu has assaulted her. She did not support

the prosecution story about recovery of ‘Kathri’,  bedsheet,  goggles,

salwar and button etc. from the scene of crime. Appellant never used to

visit her house and he did not maintain any relation with her. 

20. As per prosecution story, Lab Technician R.K. Pateria (P.W.10)

had taken the blood sample of appellant for the purpose of DNA test.

Ex.P/12 was prepared in which Dr. M.K. Barsana put his signature.

The thumb impressions of  appellant  are also mentioned in  Ex.P/12.

This  witness  also  signed  on  Ex.P/12.  In  the  cross-examination,  he

stated  that  he  had  taken  the  blood  sample  but  semen  sample  of

appellant was not collected by him. 

21. Dr. Paribhashita, Assistant Officer of Medical College, Gwalior

entered the witness box and deposed that Begum was admitted in the

Hospital  on  23.02.2017.  She  was  referred  from Chhatarpur  District

Hospital for treatment. During her treatment, she was on ventilator and

was in a very critical condition. She narrated about the injuries on the



11
CRIMINAL APPEAL No.2810 OF 2019

CRIMINAL REFERENCE No.03 OF 2019

body of the victim. In the span of five days when she was admitted in

the Hospital, she was on ventilator and it was difficult to measure her

blood pressure. She died on 28.02.2017.

22. Dr.  Preeti  Sharma  (P.W.12)  is  the  doctor  who  certified  and

informed  about  the  death  of  victim.  Mohan  Prasad  (P.W.13)  is  the

witness who prepared the Marg Intimation. Yagya Prasad (P.W.14) is a

Head Constable. As per the testimony of this witness, he visited the

scene of crime on 22.02.2017 at 10:50 AM alongwith S.I. Anjana Patil.

The site map was prepared in the presence of Baddi @ Badi which was

marked as Ex.P/18. In the presence of other witnesses, the blood stains

‘Kathri’,  Salwar,  bedsheet  and  goggles  having  golden  frame  were

recovered. In addition, blue button of a shirt which had yellow thread

in it was also recovered. 

23. Learned  Senior  counsel  submits  that  this  witness  was  not

confronted with the goggles during his examination in the Court. Thus,

it could not be established that the goggles so recovered by him is the

same  one  which  was  marked  as  Article-A.  In  both  the  dying

declarations, the victim has not taken the name of present appellant.

24. R.K.  Pateriya  (P.W.10)  Lab  Technician  deposed  that  blood

sample of appellant for DNA examination was taken through Ex.P/12.

Arvind Kujur (P.W.30) is the witness to the incident.

25. Dr. Paribhasita (P.W.11) examined the victim and deposed about

her health condition and nature of injuries sustained by her.  Dr. Preeti

Sharma (P.W.12) examined the dead body of the victim.  She certified

that victim died around 3:10 PM and she promptly informed about the
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death to Police Station Kampu, Gwalior. She certified the signatures of

other officers of the medical department on Ex.P/14 (Bed Head Ticket).

The marg intimation was received by Mohan Prasad (PW/13) who was

deputed as Head Constable Writer in Police Station Kampu, Gwalior

on 28.02.2017. He admitted that cause of death was not mentioned in

the ‘Marg’ Intimation (Ex.P/17).

26. Next witness is Yagya Prasad (PW14) who is a Head Constable.

As per this witness, he reached the scene of crime on 22.02.2017 at

10:15 AM. In his presence S.I.  Anjana Patil  examined the area and

scene of crime and a site map was prepared in the presence of Badi @

Azim Bano (PW-9).  From the scene of crime and in the presence of

Badi Bai and other witnesses, Anjana Patil recovered a red ‘Kathri’. In

which there were blood stains. Victim’s salwar was recovered which

was also full of blood stains. Yellow-black-brown bedsheet was also

recovered on which blood stains were there. Male sunglasses having

golden frame was also recovered. Apart from this, blue button having

yellow  thread  was  recovered.  These  items  were  sealed  at  the  spot

through Ex.P/19 and Yagya Prasad put his signatures from ‘A to A’.

27.  Shri  Manish Datt,  learned Senior Counsel  placed reliance on

Ex.P/19  and  submits  that  it  is  a  crucial  document.   Through  this

document,  the  recovered bedsheet,  clothes,  goggle,  button etc.  were

seized.  It  is submitted that  entry against  column-5 appears to have

been inserted subsequently because writing and size of letters in entry-

5 is different.  Dr. Nikhil Agrawal (P.W.15) is the Autopsy Surgeon. He

described the injuries found on the person of deceased. The cause of
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death  as  per  this  witness  is  injuries  caused  on  chest,  stomach  and

complications arising thereto.  The injuries might have been caused by

hard and blunt object.  He further deposed that the possibility cannot be

ruled out that an aged person like victim is thrown to hard and blunt

object and such injuries could be caused.

28. Dr. Sarthak Juglan (P.W.16) was a member of Autopsy Team.

He  also  described  the  nature  of  injuries  found  on  the  person  of

deceased. He submits that after autopsy, slide samples were seized and

handed over to Saurabh Tiwari (P.W.6).

29. Dr. Arpita Shukla (P.W.18) examined the victim at Chhatarpur

and  clearly  deposed  that  no  definite  opinion  can  be  given  whether

victim was subjected to sexual assault.  Bhagwandas (P.W.7) states that

upon  submission  of  Dehati  Nalishi in  Crime  No.66/17,  the  Head

Constable Writer lodged F.I.R. (Ex.P/9).  District Hospital, Chhatarpur

provided  sealed  packet  containing  vaginal  slide  and  sample  seal  of

victim to him on 22.2.2017 which was handed over to Constable Writer

Ramswaroop  Rajput  through  Ex.P/10.   Shri  Manish  Datt,  learned

Senior  Counsel  submits  that  Ramswaroop  Rajput  (P.W.23)  nowhere

states that he did receive any such sample from Bhagwandas (P.W.7).

Thus  chain  of  custody  of  samples  could  not  be  established  with

sufficient clarity.

30. It is pointed out that two sets of slides of victim were prepared.

One set was prepared on 22.2.2017 at Chhatarpur by Dr. Arpita Shukla

(P.W.18) when victim was under treatment at Chhatarpur whereas two

sets of slides were prepared at Gwalior on 01.3.2017 during autopsy of
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the  victim.   Patwari  (P.W.19)  prepared  the  site  map  Ex.P/22  on

18.3.2017.  Anjana Patil (P.W.20) is signatory to the said site map.  The

neighbours of the scene of crime were not made witnesses.  Anjana

Patil (P.W.20) deposed that victim did not take the name of appellant

Ribu.  This witness is  also silent about recovery of slides from Dr.

Arpita Shukla (P.W.18).

31. Malkhan Singh who is  a  Constable  Photographer,  is  a  formal

witness.   Jitendra  Singh  (P.W.22)  is  the  witness  to  blood  sample

process.   He  was  not  confronted  with  Ex.P/22.   Although,  he  was

confronted with Ex.P/13.  This witness (P.W.22) informs that Constable

Saurabh Tiwari  (P.W.6) produced a sealed packet  containing Salwar

Kurta and two more sealed packets containing her viscera.  These were

seized  through  Ex.P/8.   Since,  the  packets  were  already  sealed,  no

additional seal was affixed in the police station.  He further admitted

that in column-7 of the ‘Marg’ Intimation, there is no mention about

the  injuries  on  the  private  part  of  the  deceased.   The  statement  of

Jitendra  Singh  (P.W.22)  is  relied  upon  to  submit  that  this  witness

Jitendra Singh deposed that when he reached blood bank of District

Hospital, Chhatarpur, police in-front of R.K. Pateriya, Lab Technician

sealed  the  blood  samples  and  sealed  packets  were  prepared  in  his

presence.   In  cross-examination,  he clearly  deposed that  in  Ex.P/13

whose blood was seized, he cannot depose at all.  Thus, the bone of

contention of Shri Manish Datt, learned Senior Counsel is that in the

entire sample taking and sealing procedure, the prosecution could not

establish  with  clarity  that  blood  sample  so  taken  was  of  present
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appellant.  In absence thereof, finding of such blood sample cannot be

used against the present appellant.

32. Ramswaroop  Rajput  (P.W.23)  was  the  Malkhana  In-charge.

Samples were received on 22.2.2017.  Saurabh Tiwari (P.W.6) did not

mention  about  safe  custody  of  samples  between  22.2.2017  to

24.2.2017.  Malkhana Inward Outward Register was not produced to

establish safe custody of the samples.  Sandeep Singh, a Constable of

Cyber Cell entered the witness box but since no mobile was seized, this

witness is of no significance.   Duvesh Kumar (P.W.25) is the seizure

witness of goggles (Article A) (Ex.P/11).  Ajay Gupta (P.W.26) stated

that on 22.2.2017, he received a sealed packet containing vaginal slide

of Begum from Constable Bhagwandas and the same was seized by

him in presence of Ramswaroop Rajput and Constable Rajjan.  The

Panchanama is Ex.P/10.  Similarly, on 23.2.2017, samples of appellant

obtained from District  Hospital,  Chhatarpur were received in sealed

condition  by Constable  Ramswaroop Rajput  through Ex.P/11.   Shri

Manish Datt, learned Senior Counsel submits that between 22.2.2017

and  24.2.2017  where  samples  were  kept  is  not  established.  The

prosecution was obliged to establish that during this period the samples

were in safe custody.

33. Prakash  Kathya  (P.W.27)  deposed  that  he  is  an  independent

witness.   He  runs  a  tea  shop  at  the  gate  of  District  Hospital,

Chhatarpur.   Police  called  him  and  obtained  his  signatures  on  the

sealed  envelopes  in  the  Blood  Bank.   In  the  cross-examination,  he
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clearly stated that he does not remember whether appellant was present

in the hospital.

34. Sandeep Tiwari (P.W.28) prepared certificates under Section 65-

B  of  Evidence  Act.  Abhinav  Sharma  (P.W.29)  is  an  Executive

Magistrate  who  recorded  the  dying  declaration.  In  the  cross-

examination,  he  admitted  that  the  victim  did  not  depose  about  the

appellant that he has caused any wrong with her or even assaulted her.

Constable  Arvind  Kujur  (P.W.30)  stated  that  Ribu  was  summoned

during investigation by Police Station Civil Lines, Chhatarpur.  He was

wearing a yellow shirt and same was handed over to police and it was

seized through Ex.P/4.  Under the collar the word ‘ALLISTER’ was

mentioned on the shirt. Two buttons below the collar were broken and

missing.  There were blood stains on the shirt and shirt was having blue

button.  The shirt was seized as Article F.  This witness further submits

that for DNA profiling of appellant, his blood samples were taken by

R.K. Pateria, Lab Technician.  He prepared a seizure memo in which

Arvind Kujur put his signatures.  Ex.P/12 is that proforma.  The other

material collected from scene of crime i.e. Bedsheet,  Kathri,  Salwar

and Buttons were seized through Ex.P/31 and sent to FSL, Sagar.

35. It is pointed out that Arvind Kujur is signatory to Ex.P/12 but did

not depose that blood sample of Ribu was taken in his presence.  Kujur

witness  to  the  seizure  process  nowhere  said  that  blood  sample  of

appellant was taken in his presence.  Thus, a crucial elementary fact of

recovery  of  blood  sample  from  appellant  is  totally  missing  which

makes the prosecution story unreliable.  In other words, it is submitted
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that ‘sample taking procedure’ and ‘sample sealing procedure’ are two

different  things.   Both  needs  to  be  established  with  accuracy  and

precision.  The witnesses in the instant case have nowhere deposed that

blood  sample  for  DNA  was  so  taken  from  appellant.  They  are

witnesses to the sealing procedure.  At the cost of repetition, it is urged

that when on 22.2.2017 the samples were deposited, how it remained

in safe custody till 24.2.2017 is not established.  Dr. Himanshi Batham

(P.W.31) deposed that examination of appellant shows that there were

no injuries on his body. In para-3 of his cross-examination, he accepted

that  name  of  appellant  is  mentioned  as  ‘Biru’ in  place  of  ‘Ribu’.

Question No.60 of statement of Section 313 of Cr.P.C. of appellant is

heavily relied upon to submit that appellant has categorically denied

that any blood sample was taken from him for the purpose of DNA

examination.

36. Shri  Manish  Datt,  learned  Senior  Counsel  /  Amicus  Curiae

further urged that there are basically three incriminating materials on

the strength of which appellant was held guilty.  Firstly, sunglasses of

Haidar which were in the possession of present appellant from a day

before  the  date  of  incident  was recovered from the scene of crime.

Secondly, a button of shirt allegedly recovered from same place which

belongs to appellant and thirdly, the DNA report.

37. FSL draft dated 24.02.2017 (Ex.P/31) was referred to show that

kathri (Article-A), salwar (Article-B) and chadar (Article-C) were sent

for FSL which were recovered by ASI Anjana Patil whereas vaginal

slide of victim (Article-D) were prepared by Dr. Arpita Shukla (PW-
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18). As per Dr. Arpita Shukla, these slides were handed over to ASI

Anjana  Patil.  All  these  materials  were  collected  on 22.02.2017  and

were sent for FSL examination on 24.02.2017. The blood sample of

Ribu was taken by Technician Pateria (PW-10). He in his deposition

does not say that it was handed over to Constable Kujur.

38. The  Identification  Form  (Ex.P/12)  is  highly  relied  upon  to

submit  that  Jitendra  Singh  (PW-22),  an  independent  witness  and

Arvind Kujur (PW-30) are signatory to this document.  Both of them

do not state that blood sample of appellant was taken in their presence.

39. The  statement  of  Lab  Technician  R.K.  Pateria (PW-10)  was

pointed out to show that blood sample was taken on the request of

Station  House  Officer  and  on  the  guidance  of  Dr.  M.K.  Barsana.

However, Dr. Barsana was not examined. It is strenuously contended

by learned Amicus Curiae that this lab technician who has taken blood

sample of appellant does not identify the accused in the Court and does

not say that blood sample was indeed taken from the accused present in

the  Court.  Thus,  chain  of  events  are  incomplete  and  create  serious

doubt on the prosecution story.  Similarly, independent witness Jitendra

Singh (PW-22) does not state that he identifies the appellant. Indeed,

he submits that he does not know the appellant. Reliance is placed on

Para-2 of cross-examination wherein he candidly admitted that he is

unable to say anything about the person whose blood sample was taken

through  Ex.P/13.  Arvind  Kujur  (PW-30)  does  not  state  that  in  his

presence blood was taken.
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40. The statement of  ASI Anjana Patil (PW-20) nowhere shows that

she  deposited  the  kathri,  salwar,  bedsheet  in  Malkhana of  Police

Station. No Malkhana Register was produced before the Court below.

No  Officer  in-Charge  of  Malkhana  entered  the  witness  box  to  talk

about the safe custody of the incriminating materials/samples collected

on 22.02.2017 and sent for FSL examination on 24.02.2017. Putting it

differently,  the  safe  custody  of  the  samples  between  22.02.2017  to

24.02.2017 could not be established with necessary clarity.

41. On 24.02.2017, the materials/samples were sent for examination

to FSL. After 24.02.2017, no further letter or samples were sent. It is

pointed out that there are two sets of samples taken from Begum; one

set of samples were collected from the scene of crime on 22.02.2017

and  from  Chhatarpur  Hospital  when  victim  was  under  treatment

whereas  another  set  of  samples  were  collected  at  Gwalior  after  the

death of the victim.

42. AIR 1980 SC 1314 (State of Rajasthan vs. Daulat Ram) is

pressed into service wherein it  was held that  when sample changed

several  hands,  the  entire  chain  needs to  be established with  utmost

clarity. The possibility of tampering cannot be ruled out.  Valsala vs.

State of Kerala [1993 Supp (3) SCC 665] is relied upon to show that

prosecution  was  required  to  establish  that  during  the  entire  period

when  samples  were  lying  with  the  prosecution,  it  were  lying  with

whom and whether it were in safe custody. The Officer in-Charge was

required to be examined. The safe custody of samples for the entire

duration was required to be established.
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43. The statement of ASI Anjana Patil was referred to show that she

recovered certain articles marked from Article-A to Article-E through

Ex.P/19. This witness does not state that she handed over the sealed

material  to  any particular  Officer/Constable  in  the concerned Police

Station. In this backdrop, the chain of custody of the sealed material

could not be established by the prosecution.

44. The receipt of FSL, Sagar dated 25.02.2017 was referred to show

that sealed articles aforesaid marked as articles ‘A to H’ were handed

over to FSL laboratory by Constable No. 1091 Ghappu Lal. However,

Ghappu Lal has not been examined which creates doubt on the chain of

custody.

45. The FSL report dated 27.09.2017 (Ex.P-33) was shown to bolster

the submission that the shirt of appellant was allegedly sent to FSL by

communication dated 24.02.2017. However, the description, thickness

and diameter of button allegedly fell down at the scene of crime does

not  exactly  match  with  the  description  of  other  buttons  as  per  this

report.  The  prosecution  could  not  establish  with  accuracy  that  the

button left out at the scene of crime was the same button which was

sent for FSL examination. Reliance is placed on the decision of this

Court in  Cr.A. No. 839 / 2003 (Anil and Anr. Vs. State of M.P.) to

show that the FSL report does not support the story of prosecution, if

examined minutely. (2019) 4 SCC 522 (Digamber Vaishnav v. State

of  Chhattisgarh) was  cited  to  show  that  the  uniqueness  of  shirt

allegedly  recovered  from the  appellant  was  not  established.  Similar

shirt  and buttons are available in the market.  Thus, button does not
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establish any link for commission of crime. 2015 SCC Online MP 357

(Prakash Singh v. State of M.P.)  is referred to show that since button

was not shown to any witness in the Court, it cannot be said that it is

the same  missing button which became subject matter of examination

by FSL.

46. Furthermore, sunglasses were allegedly seized from the scene of

crime  on  22.02.2017  by  Anjana  Patil  (PW-20)  in  the  presence  of

Badibai (PW-9) and Yagya Prasad (PW-14). However, the sunglasses

were not shown to these witnesses in the Court in order to establish the

identity of the same sunglasses. Nafis Khan (PW-2) although identified

the goggles but his name does not find place in the seizure memo of

the  article.  Thus,  statement  of  this  witness  does  not  help  the

prosecution.

47.  Criticizing the DNA report and process on the strength of which

report was obtained, it is urged that Bhagwan Das (PW-7) submits that

he has given the samples to Ramswaroop Rajput (PW-23). However,

Ramswaroop Rajput (PW-23) does not say that he received any sample

from Bhagwan Das. Arvind Kujur (PW-30) nowhere mentions where

blood vile were kept after obtaining the sample from R.K. Pateria (PW-

10). The statement of Bhagwan Das (PW-7) was relied upon to show

that he received samples of appellant relating to semen, underwear and

pubic hairs but no blood samples were received by him. For the same

purpose, statement of Duvesh (PW-25) and Ajay (PW-26) were relied

upon. Thus, it is strenuously contended by Shri Manish Datt, learned



22
CRIMINAL APPEAL No.2810 OF 2019

CRIMINAL REFERENCE No.03 OF 2019

amicus curiae that blood sample of appellant did not reach or kept in

the police station.

48. The Supreme Court  way back in  (1984) 4 SCC 116 (Sharad

Birdhichand  Sarda  v.  State  of  Maharashtra) laid  down  the

‘Panchsheel’ principles  in  cases  of  circumstantial  evidence.  The

circumstance must  be clear,  specific  and indicate that  appellant  and

appellant alone ‘must have’ committed the crime and not ‘may have’

committed the crime. Recent  judgment  2022 SCC Online SC 1007

(Ram Niwas v. State of Haryana) for the same purpose is relied upon.

For the purpose of collecting, handling and examination of sample, the

judgment  of  Gujarat  High  Court  in  2009 CriLJ 2888 (Premjibhai

Bachubhai Khasiya Vs. State of Gujarat and Anr.), the judgment of

Bombay High Court in 2023 SCC OnLine Bom 641 (Suresh v. State

of Maharashtra) and recent judgments of Supreme Court reported in

(2023) 1 SCC 83 (Rahul v. State (NCT of Delhi) and  (2023) 2 SCC

353  (Manoj  and  Ors.  Vs.  State  of  M.P.) were  relied  upon.  It  is

submitted  that  collection,  custody  and  examination  process  in  the

instant  case  does not  establish the entire  chain and therefore,  DNA

examination report is of no assistance to the prosecution.

Contention of Government Counsel :-

49. Per Contra, Shri Yogesh Dhande, learned Govt. counsel placed

reliance on the statements of independent witnesses Devendra Umre

(PW-4) and Sachin Sen (PW-5). Both the witnesses deposed that the

shirt which appellant was wearing at the time of commission of crime

was seized from him in police station itself and one button of the shirt
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was missing. The shirt  was seized through (Ex.P-5) and button was

recovered from the scene of crime on 22.02.2017 and sent  for FSL

examination  on  24.02.2017.  The  report  regarding  button  is  dated

27.03.2017. The blood sample of appellant was obtained on 23.02.2017

and it was sent for medical examination on the very next date day i.e

24.02.2017.  Thus, there is  no delay in sending the blood sample of

appellant  to  the  laboratory.  The  blood  sample  was  taken  by  R.K.

Pateriya (PW-10) who handed over the sample to Arvind Kujur (PW-

30).  Thus,  no doubt can be entertained regarding collection,  sealing

and  sending  of  the  blood  sample  to  FSL.  The  defence  could  not

establish any kind of animosity of  any officer  of  police department

with the appellant and therefore, in absence of any animosity, the case

relating  to  collection  of  sample  and  sending  it  to  DNA cannot  be

doubted. Reliance is placed on  (2013) 1 SCC 395 (Sumit Tomar v.

State of Punjab),  (1995) 5 SCC 518 (Karnel Singh v. State of M.P.)

and (1996) 8 SCC 217 ( State of Rajasthan v. Kishore).

50. Dr. H. Batham (PW-31) has taken the semen sample etc. and it

was  handed  over  to  the  concerned  Constable.  Dr.  Arpita  Shukla

prepared two vaginal slides of Begum and handed over the sample to

S.I.  Anjana  Patil.  These  samples  were,  in  turn,  sent  to  DNA

examination. Thus chain of custody is very clear, submits the learned

Govt.  Advocate.  Statement of  Nafis  Khan (PW-2) is  relied upon to

show that so far goggles found at the scene of crime is concerned, if his

Court  statement  is  examined  in juxtaposition to  his  case  diary

statement  Ex.D-2,  it  will  be  clear  like  noon  day  that  there  is  no
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omission / contradiction about availability of goggles at the scene of

crime which was identified by him in the Court.

51. Shri  Dhande,  learned  Govt.  Advocate  also  placed  reliance  on

(2009) 17 SCC 208 Abuthagir v. State and urged that the probative

value of evidence needs to be examined by this Court. The defence has

not  put  the  concerned  prosecution  witnesses  to  cross-examination

relating to safe custody of the samples and in absence thereto, their

testimony cannot be doubted.

52. The  judgment  of  this  Court  in  ILR  [2020]  M.P.  495  (DB)

(Deepak @ Nanhu Kirar Vs. State of M.P.) was relied upon for the

purpose of sentencing policy.  2022 SCC OnLine 480 (Mohd. Firoz

Vs. State of Madhya Pradesh) is relied upon to submit that it  was

also a case of rape. The rape of a 4 year small girl and the Supreme

Court  considering  the  heinous  nature  of  crime,  confirmed  the

conviction and modified the sentence.

Rejoinder submission :-

53. Shri  Manish  Datt,  learned  Sr.  counsel  /  amicus  curiae in  his

rejoinder  submission  submits  that  Devendra  Umre  (PW-4)  did  not

depose  that  button  of  shirt  recovered  from appellant  was  missing  /

broken. Same is the deposition  of Sachin Sen (PW-5)  In absence of

establishing  clear  chain  of  circumstances,  appellant  deserves  to  be

acquitted.

54. Parties confined their arguments to the extent indicated above.

55. We have heard the parties at length and perused the record.
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Findings :-

56. Dehati  Nalishi was  recorded  by  Badibai  (PW-9),  mother  of

appellant. She was working as domestic helper in the house of Begum.

As per  Dehati  Nalishi recorded by Badibai  (PW-9),  the  victim was

subjected to  sexual  assault  and there was bleeding from her private

parts. However, this part of statement was not supported by Badibai

(PW-9) in her court statement.

57. The statement (Ex.P/25) under Section 161 of Cr.P.C. of Begum

was  recorded  which  may  be  treated  as  her  first  dying  declaration

whereas  second dying declaration  (Ex.P/29-A) was recorded by the

Executive Magistrate.  A comparative reading of both the statements

leaves no room for any doubt that they are in tune with each other. The

victim stated that she was sleeping on the date of incident and a young

person  entered  her  room, physically  assaulted  her  and  when victim

tried to protect herself, he further abused and assaulted her. She was

sexually  assaulted/raped  because  of  which  she  became unconscious

and gained consciousness in the hospital. A conjoint reading of Dehati

Nalishi and both the dying declarations leave no room for any doubt

that incident of assault and rape with the victim had indeed taken place

at her residence because of which she sustained several injuries.

58. As per the Autopsy report, following injuries were found on the

person of deceased Jahida Begum :- 

(1) Contusion present on left side lateral part of left eye with

swelling size 3 cm x 1.5 cm.
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(2) Contusion present on floor of chin mid to left side placed

obliquely size 6 cm x 2.5 cm with an abrasion present on

left side of chin size 1.2 cm x 0.5 cm. 

(3) Contusion  with  swelling  present  on  left  side  mastoid

region behind ear pinna size 4.5 cm x 3 cm.

(4) Contused area present diffusely on upper half of chest.

(5) Contusion present on left side shoulder size 8 cm x 5 cm.

(6) Infected would present on proximal right forearm size 3.5

cm x 2.8 cm.

(7) Contusion with swelling present  on right  forearm from

distal half of hand dorsum size 12.5 cm x 6 cm.

(8) Infected wound present  in  vaginal  opening at  posterior

junction of labia majora on inner side extending towards

posterior  vaginal  wall  at  6  O’clock  position  diffusely

extending towards left side size 1.2 cm x 0.8 cm.

(9) Abrasion present on left leg upper half size 2 cm x 1.5

cm.

(10) Contusion present on left side posterio-laterally at part of

trunk at chest & upper abdomen size 24 cm x 12 cm.

59. As per the post-mortem report, the death is homicidal in nature

and  pertinently  learned  Senior  Advocate/Amicus  Curiae and  Shri

Khare, learned counsel for the appellant did not dispute that death of

Begum is homicidal in nature.

60. The  ancillary  question  is  whether  appellant  has  assaulted  the

victim and committed sexual assault with her. As noticed above, the

case of prosecution hinges around certain circumstantial evidence. The
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court below based it findings on the following circumstances :- (i)  the

material  collected  from scene  of  crime  (ii)   the  cause  of  death  of

Begum (iii) her dying declarations (iv) the memorandum of appellant

and seizure based there upon and (v)  DNA report.

61. There  is  no  quarrel  between  the  parties  that  conviction  of

appellant  is  based  on  circumstantial  evidence  and  there  is  no  eye-

witness to the incident.  The element of oral  dying declarations also

could not be established. Thus, circumstances on the strength of which

appellant was held guilty needs to be examine carefully.

62. By  Property  Seizure  Memo  (Ex.P./19)  dated  22/07/2017  Ms.

Anjana Patil,  Sub Inspector  in  the  presence  of  Badibai  (PW-9) and

Yagya Prasad seized five articles which were mentioned in the said

seizure memo. Shri Datt, learned Senior Advocate suggested that item

No.5 which talks about seizure of a blue button has been inserted later-

on. However, in the manner this entry is recorded it does not create any

doubt nor suggest that item No.5 is an out come of any interpolation.

No amount of cross-examination was made by defence in this regard.

Thus, we are unable to persuade ourselves with the line of argument

that entry No.5 is later-on recorded as an after thought.

63. The  blue  button  is  one  important  material  on  the  strength  of

which case of prosecution is founded upon. Moreso, when there is a

finding in the report (Ex.P/33)  dated 27/03/2017 that missing button

recovered  from  the  scene  of  crime  is  part  of  the  shirt  which  was

recovered from appellant in the police station.
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64. Indisputably, this blue button allegedly recovered from scene of

crime was not shown to any of the witnesses in the Court. No witness

deposed that it was the same blue button which was recovered from

scene of crime and which became subject matter of examination by

FSL by report dated 27/03/2017.

65. A Division Bench of this Court in CRA No. 839 of 2003 (Anil

and another vs. State of Madhya Pradesh) held as under :-

“17. The buttons which were found on the spot
were the same button which were missing from
the  shirt  recovered  at  the  instance  of  appellant
Dinesh is also not found to be proved beyond the
reasonable doubt as FSL report Ex.P-33 discloses
that their radius and thickness were not the same
as in comparison with the buttons found on the
shirt  concerned.  In  such difference it  cannot  be
inferred that the button found from the spot and
the  button  found  missing  from  the  shirt  of
appellant Dinesh were the same.

18. With  regard  to  aforesaid  recovery  of  the
articles  one  more  thing  is  material.  The  seized
articles have not been produced and got identified
before the trial court from any witness of seizure
memo including the Investigating Officer. In such
circumstance, it cannot be said that the recovered
buttons and plastic piece or clothes were the same
which were sent for F.S.L and the report of F.S.L
is related to the articles which were seized as per
the prosecution story.”

                      (Emphasis supplied)
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66. In  view  of  judgment  of  Anil  (supra),  we  find  force  in  the

argument of learned Amicus Curiae that said blue button cannot be a

reason for upholding the conviction of the appellant.

67. So far goggles is concerned, it was recovered as item No.4 in

Property Seizure Memo (Ex.P/19). The said goggle was shown to Nafis

Khan (PW-2) who identified the same and stated that it was recovered

from  the  scene  of  crime.  No  amount  of  cross-examination  could

demolish his statement. Moreso, when his statement is recorded under

Section 161 of Cr.P.C. and court statement is in tune. In his case diary

statement  (Ex.D/2)  recorded  on  12/04/2017,  Nafis  Khan  (PW-2)  in

clear  terms  stated  that  goggles  recovered  from  Begum’s  house  is

owned by Haider Khan who had handed over this goggles to appellant

Akber  Khan  on  21/02/2017.  Haider  Khan  (PW-8)  also  entered  the

witness box and stated that said goggles was handed over to appellant

by him a day before the date of incident. The cross-examination could

not demolish the statement of appellant No.2 and Haider Khan (PW-8).

Thus, the prosecution could clearly establish that  the golden goggle

was given to the appellant by Haider and appellant left the same at the

scene of crime which was duly identified by Nafis Khan. Thus, this

circumstance can be used against the appellant.

68. The conviction of appellant is based on DNA examination report.

The relevant portion of the report dated 31.03.2017 (Ex. P/34) reads as

under :-

ijh{k.k izfrosnu
U;k-fo-iz-@Mh,u,@159@17
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mDr izdj.k ls lacaf/kr lhy can 08 iSfdV ¼A, B, C,, E, F, G and H½ fnukad

25-02-2017 dks vkj{kd 1091 Ghappu Lal vkj{kh dsUnz Civil line  }kjk izkIr

gq;sA mijksDr izn’kZ Sample lhy ls lhy can FksA lhy vfody feyhA izdj.k

esa izkIr izn’kksZa dk fooj.k fuEukuqlkj gS %&

Ø- iSfdV vanj ik;s x;s izn’k fdldk@ fdlls tIr ;gkW vafdr

1 A Kathri Spot A/R-6219

2 B Salwar Spot A/R-6220

3 C Chadar Spot A/R-6221

4 D Vaginal Slide Jahida Begam A/R-6222

5 E Blood Sample Akbar Khan A/R-6223

6 F Underwear Akbar Khan A/R-6224

7 G Shirt Akbar Khan A/R-6225

8 H Button Spot A/R-6226

ijh{k.k ifj.kke

mijksDr izn’kksa esa ls vkxsZfud and  automated DNA ,DlVªsD’ku fof/k ds }kjk

Mh-,u-,- izkIr fd;k x;k ijh{k.k gsrq izkIr Mh-,u-,- esa ls okafNr 16 tsusfVd

ekdZj dk ,EiyhfQds’ku Multiplex PCR izfØ;k }kjk Promega Powerplex

16  HS fdV  and  Y  Filer  Plus fdV  ds  lkFk  fd;k  x;kA  bl  izdkj

,EiyhQkbM Mh-,u-,- dh vkVksesVsM Mh-,u-,- flDosUlj ds lkFk thuksVkbfiax

izksQkby izkIr dh xbZA izkIr ifj.kkeksa dk fo’ys"k.k tkuus ij lkQ~Vos;j }kjk

fd;k x;kA

U;k-fo-iz-@Mh,u,@159@17

izdj.k esa fofHkUu izn’kksZa ij ik;s x;s ,yhy dk fooj.k fuEukuqlkj gS %&
Table-1 Y Filer Plus male DNA fdV ls izkIr ifj.kke

Genetic
Markers

Article A
Kathri

 (A/R-6219)
Spot

Article B 
Salwar 

(A/R-6220)
 Spot

Article C
Chadar 

(A/R-6221)
Spot

Article D
Vaginal Slide
(A/R-6222)

Jahida Begam

Article E 
Blood Sample

(A/R-6223)
Akbar Khan

DYS576 Non-
interpretable

17 17 17 17
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male DNA 

DYS3891 14 14 14 14

DYS635 24 24 24 24

DYS389II 30 30 30 30

DYS627 23 23 23 23

DYS460 10 10 10 10

DYS458 17 17 17 17

DYS19 14 14 14 14

YGATAH4 12 12 12 12

DYS448 18 18 18 18

DYS391 10 10 10 10

DYS456 15 15 15 15

DYS390 23 23 23 23

DYS438 11 11 11 11

DYS392 10 10 10 10

DYS518 38 38 38 38

DYS570 19 19 19 19

DYS437 15 15 15 15

DYS385 13, 19 13, 19 13, 19 13, 19

DYS449 31 31 31 31

DYS393 13 13 13 13

DYS439 11 11 11 11

DYS481 23 23 23 23

DYS387S1 36, 39 36, 39 36, 39 36, 39

DYS533 12 12 12 12

Åij nh xbZ rkfydk ds vuqlkj

 Spot ls tIr izn’kZ B (A/R-6220; Salwar), izn’kZ C (A/R-6221;

Chadar), ,oa  Victim Jahida Begam  ds L=ksr izn’kZ  D (A/R-
6222; Vaginal Slide) ij ,d leku iz:"k Mh,u, izksQkby ik;h
xbZA

 vkjksih  Akbar Khan  ds L=ksr izn’kZ  E (Blood Sample; A/R-
6223) dh iq:"k ¼Y½ Mh,u, izksQkby esa izR;sd tsusfVd ekdZj ij



32
CRIMINAL APPEAL No.2810 OF 2019

CRIMINAL REFERENCE No.03 OF 2019

ik;s  x;s  lHkh  ,yhy ,oa Spot ls  tIr izn’kZ  B  (A/R-6220;

Salwar), izn’kZ  C  (A/R-6221;  Chadar), ,oa  Victim  Jahida
Begam ds L=ksr izn’kZ  D (A/R-6222;  Vaginal  Slide) ls izkIr
iq:"k (Y) Mh,u, izksQkby esa izR;sd tsusfVd ekdZj ij ik;s x;s
lHkh ,yhy ,d leku gSA  

U;k-fo-iz-@Mh,u,@159@17

Table-2 Powerplex 16 HS fdV ls izkIr ifj.kke

Genetic Markers Article A,B,C
and D  (A/R-
6219, 6220,
6221, 6222)

Kathri,
Salwar,Chadar,
V.S. Spot and
Jahida Begam

Article E 
(A/R-6223)

 Blood Sample 
Akbar Khan

Article F 
(A/R-6224)
 Underwear
Akbar Khan

Article E 
(A/R-6225)

 Shirt
Akbar Khan

D3S1358 15, 17 16, 16 15, 16, 17 15, 16, 17

TH01 9, 9 7, 9, 3 7, 9, 9.3 7, 9, 9.3

D21S11 28, 31 31.2, 32.2 28, 31, 31.2, 32.2 28, 31, 31.2, 32.2

D18S51 15, 16 13, 14 13, 14, 15, 16 13, 14, 15, 16

Penta E 5, 21 11, 12 5, 11, 12, 21 5, 11, 12, 21

D5S818 11, 13 11, 11 11, 13 11, 13

D13S317 8, 12 9, 13 8, 9, 12, 13 8, 9, 12, 13

D7S820 11, 11 11, 12 11, 12 11, 12

D16S539 9, 12 10, 11 9, 10, 11, 12 9, 10, 11, 12

CSF1PO 11, 12 11, 12 11, 12 11, 12

Penta D 8, 11 11, 14 8, 11, 14 8, 11, 14

vWA 18, 20 17, 18 17, 18, 20 17, 18, 20

D8S1179 10, 12 11, 15 10, 11, 12, 15 10, 11, 12, 15

TPOX 9, 12 8, 11 8, 9, 11, 12 8, 9, 11, 12

FGA 22, 24 25.2, 26 22, 24, 25.2, 26 22, 24, 25.2, 26

AMELOGENIN XX XY XY XY

Åij nh xbZ rkfydk ds vuqlkj



33
CRIMINAL APPEAL No.2810 OF 2019

CRIMINAL REFERENCE No.03 OF 2019

 Spot ls tIr izn’kZ   A (A/R-6219; Kathri), B (A/R-6220; Salwar),

izn’kZ  C (A/R-6221; Chadar), ,oa  Victim Jahida Begam  ds L=ksr
izn’kZ  D (A/R-6222; Vaginal  Slide) ij   male mixed autosomal
Mh,u, izksQkby ugha ik;h xbZA 

 Accd. Akbar Khan ls tIr izn’kZ F ( A/R-6224; Underwear) ,oaa G
(A/R-6225; Shirt) ij mixed autosomal Mh,u, izksQkby ik;h xbZA 

 Victim Jahida Begam ds L=ksr izn’kZ  D (Vaginal Slide; A/R-

6222) ls izkIr autosomal STR Mh,u, izksQkby esa izR;sd ekdZj
ij ik;s x;s lHkh ,yhy] vkjksih Akbar Khan ds L=ksr izn’kZ F (

Underwear;  A/R-6224) ,oa  G  (  Shirt;  A/R-6225)  ls  izkIr
mixed autosomal STR Mh,u, izksQkby esa mifLFkr gSA  

U;k-fo-iz-@Mh,u,@159@17

vfHker : Mh,u, izksQkbfyax gsrq izkIr izn’kksZa ij fd;s x;s ijh{k.k ,oa izkIr 

ifj.kkeksa ds vk/kkj ij fuEufyf[kr fu’p;kRed ifj.kke izkIr gq;s gSa %& 

 Spot  ls tIr izn’kZ   B (Salwar),  izn’kZ C  (Chadar),  Victim

Jahida  Begam  ds L=ksr izn’kZ  D (Vaginal  Slide)  ,oa vkjksih
Akbar Khan ds L=ksr izn’kZ E (Blood Sample) esa ls ,d leku
iq:"k (Y) Mh,u, izksQkby ik;h xbZA

 vkjksih  Akbar  Khan  ds  L=ksr  izn’kZ  F(Underwear)  ,oa  izn’kZ  G

(Shirt) ls izkIr mixed DNA profile esa Victim Jahida Begam (izn’kZ
D) ds L=ksr dh mifLFkfr ik;h xbZA

Note: izn’kZ th Mh,u, ijh{k.k mijkar ,oa izn’kZ ,p ewyr% vko’;d ijh{k.k

gsrq HkkSfrd 'kk[kk ,Q-,l-,y- lkxj Hksts x, gSA 

ijhf{kr izn’kksZa ij yxkbZ xbZ lhy dk uewuk %&

(Dr. Hirak Ranjan Dash)                      (Dr. Pankaj Srivastava)
     oSKkfud vf/kdkjh            oSKkfud vf/kdkjh

     Mh,u, fQxjfizaafVx ;wfuV     lgk;d jlk;fud ijh{kd eiz 'kklu
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  jkT; U;k;kyf;d foKku iz;ksx’kkyk   Mh,u, fQxjfizaafVx ;wfuV
    lkxj ¼e-iz-½      jkT; U;k;kyf;d foKku iz;ksx’kkyk

         lkxj ¼e-iz-½

69. As noticed above, learned Sr. counsel has strenuously contended

that DNA report does not improve the case of prosecution because the

sample and custody procedure was faulty in the instant case.  

70. In  support  of  his  contention  he  placed  reliance  on  the  recent

judgment  of  Supreme  Court  in  the  case  of Rahul  (supra).  The

judgment of Rahul (supra) is in tune with another recent judgment of

Supreme Court in (Manoj and Ors. v. State of M.P.) 2023 2 SCC

353. The collection  and preservation of sample is the facet on which

argument of learned Sr. counsel is based. For the same purpose, learned

Sr. counsel has placed reliance on judgments of High Courts in  2023

SCC  Online  Bom  641  (Suresh  v.  State  of  Maharashtra),  2009

CriLJ 2888 (Premjibhai Bachubhai Khasiya Vs. State of Gujarat

and Anr.), State of Gujarat v. Jayantibhai Somabhai Khant, 2015

SCC OnLine Guj 6356.

71. If  the  factual  background  of  the  above  judgments  cited  by

learned Sr. counsel are examined it will be clear that in those cases

there was sufficient time gap between collection of blood sample and

sending the sample to FSL examination. In the instant case, the blood

sample of appellant was collected on 23.02.2017 and it was sent to the

FSL on the very next day i.e. on 24.02.2017. For example, in the case

of  Rahul  (supra), the  samples  were  collected  on  14/02/2012,

16/02/2012 and were sent to FSL on 27/02/2012.
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72.  So  far  collection  process  is  concerned,  the  blood  sample  of

appellant was taken by R.K. Pateria (PW-10). In his deposition, the lab

technician (PW-10) clearly deposed that he was posted in blood bank

of District Hospital, Chhattarpur on 23.02.2017. On the said date, he

took the sample of appellant on the request of SHO, Civil Lines and

Dr. M.K. Barsana. The blood sample was taken in EDT test tube and

was duly sealed in an envelope.  The identification form (Ex. P/12) was

prepared  which  contains  his  signature.   He  clearly  mentioned  that

blood sample of appellant was obtained by him and he did not obtain

the semen sample of appellant.  In view of statement of R.K. Pateria

(PW-10) who had taken the sample of appellant and who has proved

the  Identification  Form  (Ex.P/12),  we  do  not  entertain  any  doubt

regarding collection of blood sample from appellant which was duly

sealed by R.K. Pateria (PW-10). 

73. Arvind Kujur, Inspector (PW-30) clearly deposed that appellant

was sent for medical examination to District Hospital Chhattarpur. His

blood sample was preserved for DNA profile. The sealed blood sample

was handed over to  him by R.K. Pateria,  Lab Technician  (PW-10)

through Ex. P/13. DNA proforma (Ex. P/12) was also proved by him

which contains his signature. In para 3 of his deposition,  Arvind Kujur

(PW-30)  deposed  that  the  blood  sample  and  other  materials  of

appellant No. 3 were sent to FSL laboratory through SP’s letter No.

3/17  dated  24.02.2017.  Thus,  in  our  considered  opinion,   the

prosecution could establish beyond reasonable doubt that blood sample

of appellant was duly collected and sealed by R.K. Pateria (PW-10)
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through identification form (Ex.P/12)  Which was handed over to Shri

Arvind Kujur,.  Arvind Kujur, informed that said sample was sent for

FSL laboratory on very next  day i.e.  on 24.02.2017.  No amount of

cross examination was made by the defence to Arvind Kujur regarding

the  sampling  procedure   and  relating  to  time  gap  for  sending  the

sample  to  FSL  laboratory.  Since,  blood  sample  was  sent  for

examination on very next day and there exists nothing to suggest that

during this period sample was not in safe custody, no doubt can be

entertained about safely of the sample.

74. So far statement of Bhagwandas (PW-07), Duvesh Kumar (PW-

25) and Ajay Gupta (PW-26)  are concerned, suffice it to say that these

officers were not involved in the matter of collection of blood sample

of appellant.  They are related with different  set  of  samples,  namely

semen, underwear,  pubic hair and sample seal and therefore, if they

have not deposed about collection of blood sample,  it would not cause

any dent on the prosecution story.  At the cost of repetition,  in our

opinion, the blood sample was duly proved to be collected by the R.K.

Pateria (PW-10) who sealed it in his presence and handed over it to

Arvind Kujur (PW-30). Apart from this, no enmity is alleged against

R.K. Pateria (PW-10) or Arvind Kujur (PW-30) by the defence. The

Apex Court in Sumit Tomar vs. State of Punjab, (2013) 1 SCC 395

held as under :-  

“10.   In order to substantiate its claim, the prosecution
examined Shri Lakhwinder Singh, Head Constable as
PW 1; Shri Devinder Kumar, owner of the car as PW
2;  Shri  Gurdeep  Singh,  Assistant  Sub-Inspector  of
Police  as  PW  3;  and  Shri  Mohan  Singh,  Head
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Constable as PW 6. The Special Court as well as the
High  Court,  on  going  through  the  evidence  of  the
abovementioned official witnesses and the documents,
namely, FIR, seizure memo, FSL report, etc. accepted
the case of the prosecution. Even before us, the learned
Senior Counsel for the appellant took us through the
evidence of the abovementioned prosecution witnesses
and the connected materials. In a case of this nature, it
is  better  if  the  prosecution  examines  at  least  one
independent witness to corroborate its case.  However,
in the absence of any animosity between the accused
and the official  witnesses,  there is nothing wrong in
relying  on  their  testimonies  and  accepting  the
documents placed for basing conviction. After taking
into  account  the  entire  materials  relied  on  by  the
prosecution,  there is no animosity established on the
part of the official witnesses by the accused in defence
and  we  also  do  not  find  any  infirmity  in  the
prosecution case. It is not in dispute that the present
appellant (A-2) was driving the car in question which
carried the contraband. PW 2, owner of the car was
also examined and proved its ownership and deposed
that Sumit Tomar demanded the said car for personal
use.  In  view  of  the  above  discussion,  we  hold  that
though  it  is  desirable  to  examine  an  independent
witness, however, in the absence of any such witness,
if  the  statements  of  police  officers  are  reliable  and
when there is no animosity established against them by
the  accused,  conviction  based  on  their  statements
cannot be faulted with.”

                (Emphasis supplied)

75. The blood sample of appellant in a sealed condition reached the

Forensic  Science  Laboratory.  The  DNA  report  dated  31.03.2017

contains  a  finding that  sealed  packets  were received on 25.02.2017

through Constable  Ghappu Lal.   All  the sealed packets were intact.
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This report dated 31.03.2017 (Ex.P/33) is admissible in evidence as per

Section 293 of Cr.P.C. Thus,  right from taking the blood sample of

appellant till its receipt in the Forensic Science Laboratory, Sagar, the

purity of the process is beyond any pale of doubt. As discussed above,

the  chain  of  events/circumstances  are  dully  established  by  the

prosecution before the Court below and hence the judgment cited by

learned Amicus Curiae are of no assistance to him.

76. We are constrained to observe that in cases where the time gap

between collection of blood sample and sending of blood sample is

wide,  the  prosecution  needs  to  establish  that  sample  was  in  safe

custody during this period.  In the instant case,  no amount of cross-

examination was made to Arvind Kujur (PW-30) or to any other officer

relating to safely of the sample. Thus, in our opinion, prosecution could

establish its case with certainty that blood sample of the appellant was

indeed  taken,  sealed  and  was  sent  to  FSL  laboratory  with  quite

promptitude  within  a  period  of  almost  24  hours.  The  DNA is  a

scientific report and conviction can be based on said DNA report. See

Division Bench judgment of this Court In Reference (Suo Moto) vs.

Yogesh Nath) reported in 2021 SCC Online M.P. 1628. 

77. In view of foregoing discussion, the prosecution could establish

that the black glasses recovered from scene of crime were same glasses

which were left by the appellant at the scene of crime and the same

were  identified  in  the  Court  by  Nafis  Khan  (PW-2).  Similarly,  the

prosecution  has  established  that  blood  sample  of  appellant  was

collected, sealed and sent for DNA test and DNA report of laboratory is
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against him. The appellant in his statement recorded under Section 313

of CR.P.C. baldly denied about collection of blood sample but did not

dispute his photograph and signature on identification form (Ex.12).

These important circumstantial evidence undoubtedly establish that the

appellant has brutally assaulted and raped an old lady aged about 75-80

years. 

78. In other words, we are inclined to give our stamp of approval to

the conviction of appellant for committing offence under Sections 302,

376(1) and 540 of IPC. The ancillary question is whether the Court

below has imposed adequate sentence on the appellant or not.

79. In the instant case, considering the heinous nature of crime, the

Court below has directed to impose death sentence on the appellant.

The  Apex  Court  way  back in  Bachan Singh Vs.  State  of  Punjab

(1980) 2 SCC 684 and Machhi Singh and others Vs. State of Punjab

(1983) 3 SCC 470 laid down the principles for the purpose of deciding

the  quantum  of  sentence.  The  mitigating  circumstances and

aggravating circumstances need to be looked into while deciding the

quantum of penalty. The Apex Court also laid down the ‘crime test’,

‘criminal test’ and ‘R-R test’. This Court considered these aspects in

great detail in ILR 2023 MP 353 (In reference Vs. Ramnath Kewat

@ Bhursoo).

80. In  the  instant  case,  the  mitigating  circumstances against  the

appellant are - (i) it is not shown that appellant has any criminal record,

(ii) the rape was outcome of personal lust, (iii) the sexual assault which

resulted into death was not shown to be outcome of any premeditation
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and it was done by accused in spontaneity. (iv)  the  crime  was  not

committed to terrorize or harm a particular or larger section of society.

(v) no weapons were used. (vi) the accused is a young person aged

about 25 years.

81. The  aggravating circumstances are that - (i) victim was an old

lady  aged  about  75-80  years,  (ii)  victim  was  in  a  defenseless  and

unprotected state.  (iii)  it  was a case of abuse, assault  and rape of a

helpless old lady.

82. This Court in  ILR 2023 MP 353 (In reference Vs. Ramnath

Kewat @ Bhursoo) prepared a tabular note relating to judgments of

Supreme Court in which death sentence are affirmed and also the cases

where  it  is  commuted  to  life  imprisonment.  The  said  chart  is

reproduced for ready reference:- 

Death Sentence Commuted to Life Imprisonment
1. (1994)  4  SCC  353  - Jashubha

Bharat  Singh  Gohil v. State  of
Gujrat.

1.  Ten  murders
taken  place  in
broad day light.

Specter  of  death
hanging  over  head  of
the  accused  for  more
than six years.Offence-u/s 302  IPC  12  persons

tried for committing murder of ten
persons  and  causing  injuries  to
others.  Trial  Court  convicted  the
accused for  life  imprisonment  and
High  Court  enhanced  the
punishment  to  death  sentence.
Supreme  Court  commuted  to  Life
Imprisonment.

2. Conscious of the
state shaken.
3.  The  manner  in
which  the  murders
were  committed
exposed its gravity.
4.  Unarmed  and
innocent  persons,
returning  after
offering
condolence.

Special reasons to be assigned u/s 354(3) Cr.P.C.
2. (1999)  3  SCC  19  - Om

Prakash v. State  of
Haryana Offence- u/s 302/34 IPC
and Section 25 of the Arms Act.

i. Gruesome act. *Noticing  the
mentally  depressed
condition,  caused  by
constant  harassment
and dispute.

ii.  Premeditated  and
well though murder.

The  accused,  who  were  the
neighbours  of  the  deceased, Held not rarest of rare
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entered  into  the  house  from  the
rear door and fired at the deceased
and  his  family  members  to  take
revenge  regarding  the  plot  in
dispute  and  dread  anybody  to
confront  them  at  the  risk  of
elimination. 7 persons murdered.

case,  as this  is  not  a
crime  committed
because  of  lust  for
wealth  or  woman;
such  as  extortion,
decoity (sic : dacoity)
or  robbery  nor  even
for lust and rape, it is
not  an  act  of  anti
social  element,
kidnapping  and
trafficking  a  minor
girl  or  dealing  in
dangerous  drugs
which  affects  the
entire moral fibers of
the society and kills a
number  of  persons,
nor  it  is  a  crime
committed for  power
or  critical  ambitions
or  part  of  organized
criminal activities.

3. (2001)  2  SCC  28  - Mohd.
Chaman v. State  (NCT  of
Delhi) u/s 376,302 of the IPC.

i.  Age  of  victim
1 Vi years.

i.  No  criminal
antecedents.

ii. Prey to lust of
30 years old man
in  a  preplanned
way.

ii.  No  possibility  of
continued  threat  to
the society or such; a
dangerous  person
that  to  spare  his  life
will  endanger  the
community.

The  father  of  the  victim  was  running  a
tailoring  factory  near  his  house.  The
accused was residing in the same house in
a room adjacent to the room of the victim's
parents.  The  accused  sexually  assaulted
the victim aged 1 ½ years bitten over the
cheek,  injuries  in  vaginal  wall,  liver
lacerated with vertical deep laceration, in
the adjacent room from where the mother
of the victim picked up the victim in an
unconscious state, who was declared dead
by the Doctor.

iii. Killed in most
revolting  manner
arousing  intense
and  extreme
indignation of the
community.
iv.  An  act  of
extreme
depravity  and
arouses a sense of
revolution  in  the
mind of common
man.
v.  Menace  to  the
society  as  it  is  a
calculated  and
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cold  blooded
murder.

4. (2002)  3  SCC  76  - Lehna v. State  of
Haryana Offence : u/s 302,458,324 IPC.

1.  The  injuries
sustained  by  the
accused  were  of
very  serious
nature.

(i).  No  evidence  of
any diabolic planning
to commit the crime.

The  father  of  deceased  and  accused  had
given 2 acres of land to the accused for the
purpose of cultivation but the accused who
was a person of bad habits tried to alienate
the  land  that  was  given  to  him  by  his
father. There was constant quarrel between
the family over the ancestral land and the
accused  assaulted  the  deceased  and  the
family members and three persons of the
same family died.

2.  Three  persons
of  the  same
family  died,  who
were his own kith
and kins.

(ii)  Deprived  of  the
livelihood on account
of  the  land  being
taken away.
(iii)  Frequency  of
quarrels  indicates
lack  of  any  sinister
planning  to  take
away lives.
(iv)  The  factual
scenario  gives
impression  of
impulsive act and not
planned assault.

5. (2002)  9  SCC  168  - Vashram  Narshi
Bhai  Rajpara v. State  of  Gujrat.
Offence : 302 and 201 IPC.

i.  Meticulously
planned.

i.  Quarrels  and
continuous
harassment.ii.  Brutal  &  a

gruesome act. ii.  Constant  nagging
well  affected  the
mental  balance  and
such  sustained
provocation.

The accused,  a  fruit  vendor  purchased a
house and started living in the house with
his  family  consisting  of  his  wife,  four
daughters and a son aged 5 years. The wife
and the  daughter  of  the  accused did  not
like the house and started pressurizing him
to  sell  and  purchase  another  house.  The
accused  purchased  5  litres  of  petrol  in
plastic  can  and  kept  in  the  kitchen.  The
accused and his son slept on the terrace of
the house and other members slept in the
rear  room on the  ground floor.  At  about
3.00 am, the accused sprinkled the petrol
on his wife and daughters and set them on
fire, thereafter, the accused ran away from
the room by closing the door from outside.
Brutal  and  cold  blooded  murder  of  his
wife and four daughters by setting them on
fire.

iii.  No  criminal
background  and  not
menace  to  the
society.
iv.  Mentally
depressed  condition
of the accused.

6. (2003) 7 SCC 141 - Ram Pal v. State of
U.P. Offence :  302,307,436,440/149  of
IPC.

i.  21  persons
murdered  by
gunshot  injuries

i.  Incident  was  a
sequel  of  murder  of
close  relative  of
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or  by  burning  in
latched houses.

accused  by  the
victims family.

The victim's family was accused of having
committed the murder of two of the close
relatives  of  the  accused  family,  who  in
turn

ii. Young children
were victims.

ii.  Sufficient
provocation.

murdered  21  persons  including  young
children  by  gunshot  injury  or  burning
them in latched houses.

iii. Spent 17 years in
custody  after  the
incident.

7. (2008)  13  SCC  767  -Swamy
Shraddanand  @  Murli  Manohar
Mishra v. State  of  Karnataka.  Offence
u/s : 302,201 IPC.

i.  Planned  and
cold-blooded
murder.

Standardisation  of
sentence  process
impossible and tends
to sacrifice justice at
the  altar  of
uniformity.

ii. Motive behind
the crime.The  accused  married  the  deceased  who

came from a highly reputed and wealthy
background.  She was the grand daughter
of a former Deewan of the Princely State
of Mysore and held vast and very valuable
landed  properties  in  her  own  right.  The
accused  murdered  his  wife  after  giving
heavy dose of sleeping pills and put her in
a wooden box when she was alive, dug a
pit,  filled  with  earth  and  cemented  the
surface and covered with stone slab.

8. (2009)  6  SCC  498  - Santosh  Kumar
Satish  Bariyar v. State  of
Maharashtra Offence : u/s 302 IPC

i.  Manner  and
method  of
disposal  of  the
body of deceased
was abhorrent.

i.  Deceased  was
friend  not  enemy  of
accused.
ii.  Motive  to  collect
money.

The accused, who were the friends of the
victim, hatched a conspiracy to abduct the
victim for a ransom of Rs. 10 lakhs from
the victim's family.

ii.  Most foul and
despicable  case
of murder.

iii. Age of accused.
iv.  No  criminal
history.
v.  Not  professional
killer.

The accused called the victim to see
a movie and after seeing the movie a
ransom call for a demand of Rs. 10
lakhs  was  made  but  with  fear  of
being  caught,  they  murdered  the
victim, cut the body into pieces and
disposed it off at different places.

vi.  All  unemployed
and searching jobs.
vii.  Reformation  and
rehabilitation.

*Doctrine of Rehabilitation and weightage of mitigating circumstances.
*Doctrine of Prudence in case of circumstantial evidence.

9. (2010) 9 SCC 747 -Santosh Kumar
Singh v. State through CBI Offence
u/s : 302 & 376 IPC.

i.  Accused  belongs
to  a  category  with
unlimited  power  or
pelf  or  even  more

i.  Case  of
circumstantial
evidence.
ii.  Age  of  accusedDeceased  student  of  LLB  6th
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Semester  was  being  harassed  and
intimidated  by  the  accused
continuously,  thereupon,  the
deceased  made  several  complaints
against  the  accused  in  different
Police  stations.  On  day  of  incident
the  deceased  returned  to  her
residence,  where  she  was  sexually
assaulted  and  murdered  by  the
accused.  There  were  19  injuries  on
the  body,  but  no  internal  injury  on
private parts.

dangerously,  a
volatile  and  heady
cocktail of the two.

24/25 years.
iii.  Motive  and
murder  had  been
proceeded  by
continuous
harassment  by  the
deceased  over  two
years.

10. (2011) 3 SCC 685 - Ramesh v. State
of Rajasthan Offence u/s : 302, 392,
120-B, 201, 404, 414, 457 & 460/34
IPC

i. Murder of gains. i.  Accused  not  from
wealthy background.ii. Criminal record.

iii.
Ramesh/appellant
inflicted  injuries  on
both the deceased.

ii. Motive was money.
iii.  Circumstantial
evidence.Accused  Gordhanlal  conspired  with

other accused persons trespassed into
the  house  of  deceased  Ramlal  by
night and

iv. Reformation and

looted ornaments of gold and silver
and murdered 2 persons.

Rehabilitation.
v.  Languishing  in
Death  Cell  for  more
than six years.

11. (2011)  7  SCC  437  - State  of
Maharashtra v. Goraksha  Ambaju
Adsul. Offence : u/s- 302,201 of IPC

i.  Brutal  and
diabolic killing of 3
innocent  family
members.

i.  2nd  marriage  of
father.
ii.  Continuous
quarrels  for  division
of property.The accused who was serving in the

Indian  Army,  used  to  demand
partition of  land and other  property
for  him  and  his  brother  from  his
father. He and his brother murdered
their  father  and  2  family  members.
The  deceased  were  administered
poisonous  substance  in  pedas  then
strangulated  with  shoe  laces  and
placed  bodies  in  2  trunks  and  left
them in the train, which were found
by the Station Master next day.

ii.  Manner in which
crime  committed  is
deplorable.

iii.  Increase  of
pressure with passage
of  time  and
frustration.
iv.  Intensity  of
bitterness  between
members  of  family
had  exacerbated
thought  of  revenge
and retaliation.
v.  Continuous
nagging.

12. (2012)  4  SCC  257-
Ramnaresh v. State of Chhattisgarh.

i.  Crime  has  been
committed brutally.

i. Age of all accused.

ii.  Accused  Ranjeet
being brother-in-law

ii.  Since  deceased
was  mistress  of

Offence  :  u/s-  449,  376(2)(g)  and
302/34 IPC.
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of deceased owed a
duty  to  protect
rather  than  sexual
assault  and  murder
alongwith  his
friends.

brother  of  accused
Ranjeet,  this  may
have  been  matter  of
concern.

One of the accused, brother-in law of
the  deceased,  along  with  the  other
accused  entered  the  house  of
deceased  when  her  husband  was
away  and  committed  rape  and
murdered her.

iii.  Crime  is
heinuous  committed
brutally.

iii.  Possibility  of
death of the deceased

iv. Helplessness of a
mother of two infant
at  the  odd  hour  of
night  in  absence  of
her husband.

occurring  co-
incidentally  as  a
result  of  act
committed  on  her,
thus  not  caused
intentionally.
iv.  Not  criminals  nor
incapable  of  being
reformed  cannot  be
terms menace.

Doctorine (sic : Doctrine) of Proportionality - The principle of proportion between
the  crime  and  the  punishment  is  the  principle  of  ‘Just  Deserts’ that  serves  the
foundation of every criminal sentence that is justifiable.
13. (2012) 5 SCC 766 - Neel Kumar @

Anil  Kumar v. State  of
Haryana Offence  :  u/s-  376(2)(f),
302 & 201 IPC.

i. Nature of offence. i. The accused can be
reformed  or
rehabilitated.

ii. Age of victim.
iii.  Relationship  of
victim with accused. ii.  Not  a  continuous

threat to society.iv.  Gravity  of
injuries.

The accused, father of the deceased,
raped his  own daughter  who was 4
years old and murdered her. Cause of
death  was  Asphyxia  because  of
throttling  which  was  antimortem in
nature, lacerated wound was present
in  vagina  extended  from  anus  to
urethral, opening admitting 4 fingers.
Underlined  muscles  and  ligaments
were exposed and anus was also torn
and  on  dissection,  uterus  was
perforated in the abdomen.

14. (2013) 2 SCC 452 - Sangeet v. State
of  Haryana. Offence  u/s-  :
302,307,148,449 r/w 149 IPC.

i. Body of Seema was
burnt below the waist
with a view to destroy
evidence

Due to the belief  that the family of
injured  Amardeep  had  performed
black magic leading to death of son

of sexual assault.
ii.  No  evidence  of
being  professional
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of  Ramphal,  Ramphal  &  5  other
accused killed  3  adults  and  1  child
aged 3 years. The 3 adults had bullet
injuries other injuries by sharp edged
weapon “kukri”. Body of Seema was
burnt below the waist and upper part
of head of child.

killers.  Rahul  was
blown off by firearm
injury.

15. (2013) 2 SCC 713 -Gurvail
Singh  @  Gola v. State  of
Punjab.

Extremely  brutal,
grotesque, diabolic.

i. Age of first accused was 34
years  and  second  was  22
years.

Offence- : u/s 302/34 IPC
Accused and deceased were
member of same family and
there  was  dispute  with
regard  to  mutation  of  their
shares in their names, since
property was not mutated.

ii. Unblemished antecedents.
iii.  Property  dispute  which
culminated into death of four
persons.

The accused persons armed
with Datar, Kirpan and Toka
assaulted 4 persons of their
family and murdered them.

iv  Reformation  and
rehabilitation.

R-R Test-
1. Depends on the perception of the society and not Judge-centric.
2. Looks into various factors:
1. Society's abhorrence.
2. Extreme indignation and antipathy to certain types of crime, like rape and murder
of  minor  girls,  especially  intellectually  challenged  minor  girls,  minor  girls  with
physical disability, old and infirm women with disabilities.

16. (2013)  5  SCC  546
-Shankar  Kisanrao
Khade v. State  of
Maharashtra.

i.  Victim  aged  11
years,  innocent,
defenceless  and
having  moderate
intellectual
disability.

i.  Previous  track  record  of
accused.

Offence-  u/s 363,  366A,
376, 302, 201 IPC

ii.  Other  options  are  not
unquestionably/foreclosed.

Gruesome  murder  of  a
minor  girl,  aged  11  years,
with  Intellectual  Disability
(moderate)  after  subjecting
her to a series of acts of rape
by  a  middle  aged,
strangulated  and  murdered
her.

ii.  The accused was
a  fatherly  figure  of
52  years,  father  of
two children.
iii.  Ghastly  manner
of  execution  of
crime.

The  cause  of  death  was
Asphyxia  due  to
strangulation  and  clear

iv. Ruthless crime as per
rape  was  committed
followed by murder.



47
CRIMINAL APPEAL No.2810 OF 2019

CRIMINAL REFERENCE No.03 OF 2019

evidence  of  carnal
intercourse were there.

v.  The  action  of  the
accused  was  not  only
inhuman  but  also
barbaric.
vi.  Shocks  not  only
judicial  conscience  but
the  conscience  of  the
society.
vii.  Considering the age
of  accused  reformation
or  rehabilitation  is
practically ruled out.

17. (2014)  4  SCC  69-Anil  @
Anthony  Arikswamy
Joseph v. State  of
Maharashtra.

i.  Offence  u/s  377
proved.

i.  No  previous  criminal
history.

ii.  Murder  was
committed  in  an
extremely  brutal,
grotesque, diabolical and
dastardly manner.

ii.  Possibility  of
reformation  or
rehabilitation  at  the  age
of  42  years  cannot  be
ruled out.

Offence-u/s 302,377,201
IPC.
Gruesome  murder  of  a
minor  boy,  aged  10  years,
who  was  staying  with  him
from  few  days,  after
subjecting  to  carnal
intercourse  and  then
strangulating him to death.

iii.  Victim and innocent
boy and only son of his
mother.
iv.  Accused  was  in  a
dominating position.
v.  Life  taken away in a
gruesome  and  barbaric
manner, pricked not only
the  judicial  conscience
but  also  the  conscience
of the society.

18. (2014)  5  SCC  353-Raj
Kumar v. State of M.P..

i. Heinous crime. Accused aged 32 years.
ii. Innocent, defenceless
and helpless minor girl.Offence  :  u/s 376,450,302

IPC  The  accused  was  the
neighbor  of  the  deceased
and  used  to  call  him
‘Mama’.  On  the  said  night
the accused had taken liquor
and  meals  in  the  house  of
the  deceased  and  around
midnight  he  raped  the
deceased aged 14 years and
murdered her. The hymen of
the  deceased  was  torn  and
blood was oozing out  from

iii.  Relationship  of
accused  with  family  of
deceased.
iv.  Shocked  the
conscience of society.
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her  private  parts,  some
blood  was  also  present  in
the cavity of her uterus.

19. (2016)  9  SCC  675  - Tattu
Lodhi  @  Pancham
Lodhi v. State of M.P..

i. Brutality. Accused  was  about  27
years  and  there  was  no
material  to  negate  the
chance of accused being
reformed  and  gaining
maturity.

ii.  Helplessness  of
victim.

Offence  :  u/s 366A,  364,
376(200/511,201 IPC.

iii.  Unprovoked  and
premeditated  design  to
attack.The  accused  asked  the

victim to purchase and bring
gutka  for  him,  thereafter
Kidnapped  and  committed
rape of a minor girl, aged 7
year.  The  deceased  put  the
dead  body  in  a  gunny  bag
and  locked  it  in  his  house,
with a view for  destruction
of  evidence  relating  to  the
crime.  The  victim  was
throttled to death.

20. (2017)  4  SCC  393
-Sunil v. State of M.P.

i. Young age of accused.

Accused, 25 years old taken
his  niece  (victim)  aged  4
years  on  pretext  of  taking
her to the parents and raped
her and murdered her.

ii.  Can be reformed and
rehabilitated.
iii.  Probability  of  not
committing  similar
crime.

iv. Not a threat to society.
21. 2018 SCC OnLine SC 2570

- Chhannu  Lal
Verma v. State  of
Chhattisgarh.

i.  Murder  of  3
persons.

i.  No  evidence  as  to  the
uncommon  nature  of  the
offence or the improbability of
reformation  or  rehabilitation
of  the  accused  has  been
adduced.

ii.  Two  of  the
deceased  and  one
of  the  injured
person  were  the
women.

Offence-u/s 302,307, 506(2)
& 450 IPC
The  accused  entered  the
house  of  the  deceased  and
caused  fatal  injuries  to  3
members  of  the  family.
Thereafter,  the  accused
entered  another  house  and
inflicted grievous injuries to
one person.

ii.  No analysis  undertaken by
the  High  Court,  whether,  the
person would be a threat to the
society  or  whether  not
granting Death Penalty would
send a wrong message to the
society.
iii No previous criminal record
apart from acquittal in the case
under Section 376 I.P.C.
iv. Does not fulfill the test of
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Rarest of Rare case, where the
alternative  option  is
unquestionably foreclosed.

v.  Despite  having  lost  all  hope,  yet  no
frustration has set on the accused as per the
certificate  given  by  the  Superintendent  of
jail, that, his conduct in jail has been good.
Thus goes on to show that, he is not beyond
reform.
vi.  Without  assistance  of
psychological/psychiatric  assessment  and
evaluation  it  would  not  be  proper  to  hold,
that, there is no possibility or probability of
reform.
vii.  Procedural  impropriety of not having a
separate hearing for sentencing at  the stage
of trial.  A bifurcated hearing for conviction
and sentencing, a necessary condition.

22. (2019)  2  SCC  311Viran  Gyanlal
Rajput v. State  of
Maharashtra Offence-  u/s 363,
376,  302  and  201  of  IPC  and
Section 10 and 4 of POCSO Act.

i.  Dastardly  nature
and  manner  of
crime.

i. Young age.
ii.  Lack  of  criminal
antecedents.

ii.  Youth  and
helplessness  of  the
victim.

iii.  Post  incarceration
conduct.

The  accused  kidnapped  the  victim
aged 13 years, raped her, murdered
her by strangulation and buried her
body in the field.

iv.  Not  a  menace  to
society.
v. Possibility of reform.

23. 2019  SCC  OnLine  SC  42
- Yogendra  @  Joginder
Singh v. State of M.P. Offence : u/s
302, 326A and 460 IPC.

Accused  was  out
on  bail  in  another
case  and  has
committed  the
crime.

i.  Disappointed  with
the  deceased,  who  he
believed  had  deserted
him.

The deceased was married and had
two issues.  The  accused snug into
the  room  of  the  deceased  and
warned her that, as she doesn't want
to live with him, he is not going to
let her live neither anybody else and
threw acid on her.  When the other
family  members  tried  to  save  her,
the accused threw acid on them, in
the  attack  the  deceased  sustained
90% burn injuries and died and the
other  three  members  were
disfigured and injured.

ii.  Not  a  cold  blooded
murder.
iii.  Intention  was  to
cause  injury  or
disfigurement,  what
was  premeditated  was
injury not death.
v.  No  particular
depravity or brutality in
the acts.

*There should be special reasons for sentencing to death. The term, ‘Special Reasons’
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undoubtedly means, reasons that are, one of a special kind and not general reasons.
24. 2019  SCC OnLine  SC  43  - Nand

Kishore v. State  of  M.P. Offence  :
u/s 302,  363,  366,  367(2)(i)  IPC.
The  accused  took  away  the
deceased  aged  8  years  from  the
‘Mela’  and  committed  rape  and
murdered her in a barbaric manner.
Both  legs  of  the  deceased  were
fractured.  Several  injuries  on  the
private  parts  of  the  deceased
inflicted  by  the  accused  due  to
which  the  intestine  had  come out.
The headless body of the deceased
was recovered.

“Special  Reasons”  not
assigned  by  the  High
Court  within  the
meaning  of  section
354(3)  Cr.P.C.  to
impose  death  penalty
on the accused.

*Para 14, Ratio of Mukesh v. State of (NCT of Delhi)
25 2019  SCC  OnLine  SC  81-Raju

Jagdish  Paswan v. State  of
Maharashtra.

i.  Murder  involves
exceptional
depravity.

i.  Murder  not
preplanned.
ii. Accused young man
aged 22 years.Offence  :  u/s 302,  376(2)(f)  and

201 IPC.
ii.  Manner  of
commission  of
crime  is  extremely
brutal.

The  accused  dragged  the  victim
aged 9 year old into the sugarcane
field,  forcibly raped her and threw
her in the well. The cause of death
was  drowning  and  there  was
evidence of vaginal as well as anal
intercourse.

iii.  No  evidence
produced  by
prosecution  that  the
accused  had  the
propensity  of
committing  further
crimes,  causing
continuity  of  threat  to
society.
iv.  The  state  did  not
bring  on  record  any
evidence  to  show  that
the  accused  cannot  be
reformed  and
rehabilitated.

26 2019 SCC OnLine SC 363 -Sachine
Kumar Singraha v. State of M.P.

i.  Heinous  offence
in  a  premeditated
manner.

i.  Case  rests  on
circumstantial
evidence.

Offence : u/s 363, 376A, 302, 201-11
IPC & Section 5(i)(m) r/w Section 6
of POCSO Act.

ii.  False  pretext
given  to  the  uncle
of  victim  to  gain
custody of victim.

ii.  Probability  of
reformation.
iii.  Absence  of  prior
offending history.The  accused  was  the  owner  and

driver of the vehicle in which he had
taken the victim aged 5 years to the

iii. Abused faith.
iv.  Exploited  the iv.  His  overall
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school, from the custody of her uncle
on  the  false  pretext  of  going  along
with her to school as he had to pay
fees  of  his  daughter.  Thereafter,  the
victim was raped and murdered and
body was found in the well with only
an underwear.

innocence  and
helplessness  of  the
child.

conduct.

27. Criminal  Appeal  No.
1411/2018- Dhyaneshwar  Suresh
Borkar v. State  of
Maharashtra Offence-u/s  302,  364,
201,34 IPC

I.  Age  of  accused  at
the  time  of
commission  of
offence was 22 years.
ii.  Spent  18  years  in
jail.

Accused killed a minor child. iii.  While  in  jail,  his
conduct was good.
iv.  Tried  to  join  the
society  and  has  tried
to  become  civilised
man,  completed  his
graduation  from  Jail.
He  has  tried  to
become reformative.
v. Written poem from
jail. It appears he has
realized his mistake.

83. Learned  Government  counsel  relied  on  a  recent  judgment  of

Supreme Court in Mohd. Firoz (Supra) in which a small girl of four

years  was  brutally  assaulted  and  raped  by  appellant  therein.  While

affirming the conviction of appellant for the offences charged against

him, the Supreme Court commuted sentence of death to the sentence of

imprisonment  for  remainder  of  natural  life  for  offence  punishable

under Section 302 IPC. In the facts and circumstances of this case, we

deem it  proper  to  follow the  same course  and  while  affirming  the

conviction, deem it proper to commute the sentence, considering the

gravity and seriousness of offence to the sentence of imprisonment for

the remainder of appellant’s natural life.
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84. Consequently, the impugned judgment of conviction is affirmed.

The death sentence imposed under Section 302 of IPC stands modified

to the sentence of imprisonment for remainder of appellant’s natural

life.

85. We answer the  reference accordingly  and the appeal  is  partly

allowed to the aforesaid extent. 

   
   (SUJOY PAUL)                           (AMAR NATH (KESHARWANI)) 
         JUDGE                        JUDGE
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